1968

Wally's Wagon, Inc. v. State Tax Commission of Utah : Plaintiff's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

Wally's Wagon paid sales taxes on all sales made by the corporation. It denied that it was liable for any tax, penalty, or penalty interest on the unpaid balance of the assessment made on sales made by vendors claimed by Wally's Wagons to be independent contractors. The sales tax assessment was originally imposed by the auditing division for the period between

May 25, 1964, and March 31, 1966, upon every transaction of the corporation and on all sales by the contractors under their lease agreements with plaintiff and the assessed tax deficiency and applicable interest were sustained by the State Tax Commission. The imposition of the penalty tax and penalty interest upon the assessed deficiency were disallowed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Wally's Wagon seeks a judgment vacating the assessed deficiency for sales tax not collected or remitted by Wally's Wagon.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

To save time, a statement of facts was read into the record which would have been the testimony of Walter F. Pjerski, president of Wally's Wagon, had he testified. Defendant had no objection to the statement as made. (R 60-62)

Wally's Wagon Inc. is a Utah corporation with its place of business at 3565 South 2nd West, Salt Lake City, Utah. The company is not engaged in manufacturing ice cream but purchased same from Swift Company and Meadow Gold. (R 61)

Prior to commencing business, a discussion was had with counsel to determine how the business should

be handled. It was concluded not to go into the retail business but to sell ice cream to independent contractors, and to act as a broker. Wally's Wagon was to provide the facilities for the selling of the ice cream. (R 61) A lease agreement was prepared by counsel for the rental of the facilities (International Scout trucks with a refrigerating unit and a musical attachment.) (R 100) The lease agreement was taken to the United States Office of Employment Security to determine whether or not it would be necessary to pay unemployment compensation taxes on the contractors who sold the ice cream. (R 62) The lease was also taken to the Internal Revenue to determine whether or not the contractors would be considered employees and if it would be necessary to withhold taxes as required under the federal income tax law for employees. (R 62) The corporation does no advertising. The building has no sign on it that indicates that there is ice cream for sale. No retail trade is solicited by the corporation. Bulk sales or large sales are made at retail to accommodate persons who come to the office as a matter of good will. Sales tax was paid on said sales.

The lease is the sole agreement between the corporation and the contractors. If the signer of the lease happens to be a minor under 21 years of age, it is necessary that he obtain the signature of a parent or his legal guardian. No contracts are entered into unless one who has reached majority joins in the contract. (R 62 and 76) The defendant had no objection to the statement. (R 62)

Section 59-15-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, page 695, provided . . .

“(c) The term “wholesaler” means a person doing a regularly organized wholesale or jobbing business, and known to the trade as such and selling to retail merchants, jobbers, dealers or other wholesalers, for the purpose of resale.”

“(e) . . . The term “retail sale” means every sale within the State of Utah by a retailer or wholesaler to a user or consumer, except such sales as are defined as wholesale sales . . .”

Section 59-15-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provided . . . (second sentence)

“ . . . The vendor *shall* collect the tax from the vendee, but in no case shall he collect as tax an amount (without regard to fractional parts of one cent) in excess of the tax computed at the rates prescribed by this act. . . ”

Local Sales Tax Regulation No. 3 (1961), in effect throughout this period to 1965, provided . . .

“When the *vendor is responsible for collecting from the purchaser* local sales or use tax of one-half of one percent in addition to state sales and use tax of two and one-half percent, the following combined 3% schedule is to be used to determine the amount to be collected:

Amount of Sale	Tax
\$0.01 to \$0.14	None
.15 to .42	\$0.01 . . . ”

Sales Tax Ruling No. 20, of the State Tax Commission, provided:

“ . . . Under the Act, as amended, the vendor is required to collect the tax from the vendee with respect to all transactions subject to tax. In all cases the tax must be added to the sales price and collected as a separate item. *It will be considered a violation of the Act for the vendor to absorb the tax or to consider that the tax is included and collected as part of the sales price.*”

After adoption of the Utah Sales Tax Regulations of 1965, the following were in effect:

“S4. It is unlawful for the vendor in any way to waive the collection or imposition of the tax or to consider that the tax is included and collected as part of the sales price. The vendor must add the tax to the sales price as a separate item and collect from the vendee. The vendor is required to remit to the tax commission all tax funds in his possession and is a guarantor of all amounts required to be collected under the tax act. (R 95 p. 40)

“S6. The vendor is responsible for collecting from the purchaser state sales or use tax at the rate of 3% of the sales price. See regulation No. S30 for definition of sales price. (R 95 p. 40)

“The following schedule may be used in determining the amount to be collected for 3% state tax:

Amount of Sale	Tax
\$0.01 to \$0.14	See below
.15 to .73	\$0.01

“For higher amounts, tax may be computed to the nearest cent. Tables covering sales up to \$50.00 are available upon request from the State Tax Commission.

“Vendors using the above schedule should not collect tax on sales under 15 cents. The bracket schedule is designed to over collect the tax in certain brackets and under collect the tax in others, in order that the vendor can be reimbursed for the approximate amount of tax that is required to be remitted to the tax commission. Eff. Sept. 1, 1965” (p. 41)

Copies of the foregoing Regulations and Rulings were sought of the Tax Commission. None were available until this hearing. They are no longer available. Prints from other briefs had to be used.

The lease agreement was the only agreement, written or oral between Wally's Wagon and the contractors, the sellers of the ice cream. (R 67) The lease was changed. During 1964, the lease agreement was Exhibit 7. During 1965 and 1966, the lease agreement was Exhibit 6. The only differences are:

a. In paragraph 1 the time when a truck was leased was changed to accommodate the contractors. It was generally changed to “from 10:00 A.M. to Sundown.”

b. In paragraph 4 the second paragraph was added to provide for credit sales. This was missing in the first lease. It was found necessary because the contractors did not have the money to pay cash for their ice cream.

c. Paragraph 8 was changed by reducing the bond from \$25.00 to \$15.00 and adding “the faithful performance of said contractor pursuant to the terms of this lease and to safely . . .”

d. Paragraph 11 was changed at the instance of the insurance carrier to prohibit riders.

e. Paragraph 16 was changed to require the lawful operation and proper operation of the motor vehicle and to set forth the responsibility of the Contractor.

f. Paragraph 22 was changed to meet the health regulations to require that the exterior of the food dispenser be clean as well as the interior.

g. Paragraph 30 was an addition to be sure that a legally responsible party executed the lease and the **CONSENT AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENT** was to the same effect.

None of these changes was to give Wally's Wagon control. The contractors wanted different hours. To meet the request of the contractors as to the hours, the lease was changed. To meet conditions in the operation which contractors desired, such as credit, to meet insurance carriers requests and to have a responsible party on the lease, the new lease was made. The outstanding leases were in force and effect during 1964. The new form of lease was used at the commencement of the next year, 1965 and thereafter.

All items handled have a recommended selling price of less than 15c. (R 70)

When the business was commenced, advertisements in the newspaper were made, for independent contractors. (R 71) Each seller of ice cream was asked to read the contract. (R 71) If the seller had not reached majority, the contract was gone over with the legal

guardian of the seller. (R 71) What the ice cream was sold for was unknown to Wally's Wagon. (R 72) There was no distinctive clothing. (R 76) When a truck was left with Wally's Wagon at night, the contractor would ask to have the truck checked with him. The contents and stock were checked and what was needed was determined. (R 78) The money change the contractors had was either their own, or they would purchase change or change might be loaned them. (R 79) The contractors were to turn in their cash receipts. This may not have been what the total recommended sale price was for the ice cream missing from the refrigerator. At the time of settlement for those working on a credit basis, twenty percent of the recommended sale price of all ice cream sold and delivered to the contractor was deducted from the total sum deposited. The balance of the deposit was turned over to the contractor. (R 80) Contractors chose a given area. (R 82) Wally's Wagon paid for the insurances on the vehicle and the vehicle tax (R 86) The contractors paid the city peddler's license. (R86) The state never required any unemployment compensation tax on this operation. (R 88) and (Exhibit 10) The deposit was whatever they had. (R 91)

STATEMENT OF POINTS UPON WHICH WALLY'S WAGON RELIES FOR REVERSAL

POINT ONE: WALLY'S WAGON SOLD THE ICE CREAM TO THE CONTRACTORS FOR RESALE.

POINT TWO: THE CONTRACTORS LEASED THE INTERNATIONAL SCOUTS FROM WALLY'S WAGON AS INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS.

THE THIRD POINT IS NOT NECESSARY IF EITHER OF THE FIRST TWO POINTS ARE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF WALLY'S WAGON.

POINT THREE. WALLY'S WAGON AND THE CONTRACTORS WERE PROHIBITED BY LAW FROM COLLECTING OR ABSORBING THE SALES TAX ON THE ICE CREAM SOLD.

ARGUMENT

The record contains a Legal Memorandum and the Reply Legal Memorandum of Wally's Wagon (Re: Sales Tax Assessment,) and a Memorandum in support of the Auditing Division which was filed by the Attorney General. Having been cautioned, even in the statute to make statements concise, without re-

dundancy or duplicity, an attempt is made to be brief even though interest and conviction would cause a different result.

POINT ONE: WALLY'S WAGON SOLD THE ICE CREAM TO THE CONTRACTORS FOR RESALE.

Black's Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition, defines "Sale" as:

"A contract between two parties, called, respectively, the 'seller' (or vendor) and the 'buyer', (or purchaser), by which the former, in consideration of the payment or promise of payment of a certain price in money, transfers to the latter the title and the possession of property . . .

"A contract whereby property is transferred from one person to another for a consideration of value, implying the passing of the general and absolute title, as distinguished from a special interest falling short of complete ownership . . ."

"An agreement by which one gives a thing for a price in current money, and the other gives the price in order to have the thing itself. Three circumstances concur to the perfection of the contract, to-wit, the thing sold, the price, and the consent . . ."

Wally's Wagon entered into a written lease with the contractor. The contractor agreed:

(1) To sell exclusively the ice cream and frozen foods of Wally's Wagon, (R 100-2); (2) To pay cash for said ice cream purchased with the clear understanding that Wally's is in no way responsible to take back any of said ice cream and that the sole title and ownership is conveyed to the contractor at the time of delivery pursuant to 1964 lease, (R 100-4) or Wally's may accept cash or extend credit for the deliveries made during the week with the title passing upon delivery to the contractor, under the 1965-1966 lease. (R 100-4) The purchase price was twenty percent of the recommended resale price. (R 71) If it were not a sale what was it? Could Wally's deny that the contractor did not have title after the delivery to the contractor? Could Wally's deny that there was no fixed wholesale price? Could Wally's deny that the Scout was not leased to the contractor? There was a definite contract between two parties (lease); there was the payment of money or a credit granted; the price was fixed by practice—eighty percent of the recommended resale price—(That even indicates that it was a resale and not a direct sale to the consumer) and the title and possession of the goods transferred. (R 100-4) Would any court construe that Wally's owned the ice cream in the vehicle leased to the contractor? Wally's Wagon could not deny the provisions of the written lease. There was a definite sale for resale.

POINT TWO: THE CONTRACTORS LEASED THE INTERNATIONAL SCOUTS FROM WALLY'S WAGON AS INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS.

In American Jurisprudence, Volume 35, under MASTER and SERVANT, Section 3, on page 445, one reads:

“While it is said that at common law there are four elements which are considered upon the question of whether the relationship of Master and Servant exist, namely, the selection and engagement of the servant, the payment of wages, the power of dismissal, the power of the control of the servant’s conduct,—the real essential element of the relationship is the right of control—the right of one person, the master, to order and control another, the servant, in the performance of work by the latter, and the right to direct the manner in which the work shall be done. It is, moreover, essential that the master shall have control and direction not only of the employment to which the contract relates but also of all of its details, and if these elements of control and direction are lacking, no relationship of master and servant exists. The test of the employer-employee relation is the right of the employer to exercise control of the details and method of performing the work. It is the element of control of the work that distinguishes the relationship of master and servant from the independent contractor relationship, for the most important test in determining whether one employed to do a certain work is an independent contractor or a mere servant is the control over the work which is reserved to the employer.”

In this lease, what control is reserved to Wally's? What power is reserved to Wally's to terminate the lease? What power is reserved to supervise the work? What acts on the part of Wally's can end the relationship?

It would be nice if one could point out to a sentence that showed there was no control, that there was no right to terminate, that an act on the part of Wally's could terminate the relationship, but that cannot be done. One must read the entire contract and find out if any of these rights are reserved to Wally's Wagon in the contract. Then one must read the evidence to see if the acts or practices constituted a difference in relationship than the lease. Only then can it be determined if there were control. We challenge anyone to show where there was control.

In the case of *Christean vs. Industrial Commission*, 113 Utah 451, 196 P. 2d 502 (1948), your honorable court considered whether a salesman was an independent contractor and stated that the legal fact is the degree of control or the "Right to control."

Christean was under contract to do the following:

1. Shall put forth his best effort;
2. Shall promptly render services as the company may require;
3. Shall strictly comply with all written and printed instructions that may from time to time be communicated to him by the company;
4. Either party may terminate the contract;

5. Shall endeavor to promote the interests of the company;

6. Shall refrain from conduct which might adversely affect the business and good standing of the company;

7. Shall not engage in any business not covered by the contract between the parties;

8. Contract terminable on 30 days notice; and

9. All sales had to be approved by the company.

Christean was determined an independent contractor. In the Stover case, cited by the Tax Commission, 99 Utah 423, 107 P 2d 1027 (1940), the same conclusion was reached.

In Nicholson vs. Industrial Commission, 14 Utah 2d, 376 P 2d 386 (1962), the salesman was required to devote his entire time to this work; he was required to learn the company sales presentations; he must represent the company product in a direct manner; the company made deductions for social security from his compensation and withheld taxes for his income tax; he was required to make reports to the company on company forms and in accordance with company rules and regulations and had to account for his travel expenses; and he was required to comply with all company rules and regulations. These elements are all missing in this case.

Right to Terminate

In the lease before the court, there is no right for Wally's to terminate the lease. The illegal and negligent acts of the contractor may terminate the lease but Wally's has no control over the contractor committing such acts.

Right of Control

Section 6 of the Lease Reads:

That said undersigned contractor is an independent Contractor and is free to operate his business in accordance with good business practices as he shall, in his own individual judgment, find proper. (R 101)

What has Wally's to say about how the business is run? What control is reserved? Section 17 refers to the contractor in *his usual course of business.* (R 102)

The protect Wally's Section 5 provides . . .

"Said undersigned Contractor will protect and save said Wally's blameless from any liability for any damages whatsoever by said undersigned contractor infringing upon a sales area of any other Contractor who has entered into an agreement with said Wally's." (R 21-5 and 6)

Wally's knew it had no right to restrict a contractor to any area. Wally's showed contractors which areas had been chosen by other contractors. Because Wally's had no right to control or restrict the contractor, Wally's protected itself by inserting this clause

in the lease. Wally's was asked, "What if you had five boys in one area, what would you do then?" Wally's answered, "That was up to the boys." (R 83-8) As was testified, the areas were designated "solely for the purpose of letting other boys know where the trucks were operating and which areas had already been chosen. If they didn't want to go where another truck was, why, it was up to them." This was never contradicted. There is no testimony to the contrary. (R 83-21)

The price posted on the side of the truck was "the recommended price." (R 76-3) There was no distinctive clothing or required suits. (R 76-28) The contractors were not bound to take a full load. Sometimes they took a truck out three days in a row without putting any ice cream in. (R 79-3) There was nothing to control the prices. If the contractor ate ice cream, if he gave ice cream to a friend, if he did not keep it properly refrigerated, if some were "stolen" that was not the concern of Wally's. The charge made by Wally's was eighty percent of the listed price of the ice cream delivered. The contractor received the "difference between 80 percent of my charge and what he turned in" and this was because of "his own personal consumption." (R 80-16) Wally's had no way of controlling how much ice cream might have been given to a pretty maiden. The contractor *operated his business as he found fit* and it was *his sole judgment*. Under the written agreement, Wally could not enforce or control anything. There is no evidence that Wally's told a contractor of an area in which he could work. The

evidence is that the contractor chose the area in which he wanted to work. (R 83-21) The contractors paid Wally's on the basis of the ice cream purchased, not on the basis of the ice cream sold. (R 84-21 and 26)

In arguing Point Three, Wally's is doing so in behalf of the contractors as well as in its own behalf. What is said relative to Wally's is equally applicable to the contractors. The argument is simply made in the name of Wally's.

POINT THREE. WALLY' SWAGON AND THE CONTRACTORS WERE PROHIBITED BY LAW FROM COLLECTING OR ABSORBING THE SALES TAX ON THE ICE CREAM SOLD.

Wally's Wagon Inc. was incorporated on May 13, 1964, and commenced operation soon thereafter. All items offered for sale and all items sold were for less than 15c. Fourteen cents is the highest recommended price of any item. There is no evidence that any sale was made for an amount in excess thereof.

S6 of the 1963 Sales Tax Regulations provided:

“ . . . The following schedule is to be used in determining the amount to be collected for 3% state tax:

Amount of Sale	Tax
\$0.01 to \$0.14	None
.15 to .42	\$0.01 . . .

(R 94 p 34-35)

If you were a lawyer and your client asked you what would be the effect of charging 15c for ice cream sold, what would you advise? I advised, after consultation with Mr. F. Burton Howard, Assistant Attorney General, assigned to the State Tax Commission, that there would have to be a tax of 1c, which would mean that the resellers would have to collect 16c for the ice cream, priced at 15c. The next question is, if a charge of 14c is made is there need to collect any sales tax? After having head the regulation thoroughly, they were advised that no tax should be collected in that it would be contrary to the regulations.

S4 of the Sales Tax Regulations provided:

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