1968

Wally's Wagon, Inc. v. State Tax Commission of Utah : Defendant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFF'S APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED SINCE IT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE STATUTE ESTABLISHING THE RIGHT TO APPEAL.

The defendant would greatly like to bring this matter back to the attention of the court, at least briefly, realizing that memoranda have been filed previously and that oral arguments have been held. Since, however, the court did not enter a written decision setting forth the basis on which the writ of certiorari was allowed, although the statutory requirements had not been complied with, the defendant feels that it and the taxpaying public should be advised of the basis of the court's determination. This is necessary to insure uniform enforcement of the law as to all taxpayers and to enable the administrative body to seek such legislative relief as it deems necessary if it is the opinion of the court that the statute is for some reason unconstitutional.

The applicable statutory provision is Repl. Vol. Utah Code Ann. §59-15-16 1963:

Before making application to the Supreme Court for a writ, the full amount of the taxes, interest and other charges audited and stated in the determination or decision of the tax commission must be deposited with the tax commission and an undertaking filed with the tax commission in such amount and with such surety as the tax

commission shall prove [sic] to the effect that if such writ is dismissed or the decision of the tax commission affirmed, the applicant for the writ will pay all costs and charges which may accrue against him in the prosecution of said case; or at the option of the applicant, such undertaking may be in a sum sufficient to cover the taxes, interest and other charges audited and stated in such decision, plus the costs and charges which may accrue against him in the prosecution of such case, in which event, the applicant shall not be required to pay such taxes, interest and other charges as a condition precedent to his application for the writ. (Emphasis added.)

There is no contention by either party that the plaintiff has complied with this provision.

Within the past few years this court in two cases has considered matters brought before it involving the Utah State Tax Commission wherein appeal was sought to be taken without the party availing itself of the exclusive means of review provided by the sales tax statute. In *Pacific Intermountain Express Co. v. State Tax Comm'n*, 7 Utah 2d 15, 316 P.2d 549 (1957) the taxpayer sought to appeal from the district court to the Utah Supreme Court. Sales tax had been assessed against the taxpayer which taxpayer felt was unlawful and sought to have it declared so in the lower court. In a unanimous decision, after considering several cases and the statutory provision involved, this court held:

It is our conclusion that the trial court correctly dismissed the action for the reason that the procedure set forth in the Sales Tax Act itself is

the exclusive method of seeking redress from the sales tax assessment. This obviates our consideration of the validity of the tax. 7 Utah 2d 15, 20, 316, P.2d 549, 552.

Then, in 1964, the court issued its decision in *Lambert v. State Tax Comm'n*, 16 Utah 2d 159, 397 P.2d 294. There, the taxpayer sought to compel in the district court action by a representative of the Utah State Tax Commission. The district court granted the taxpayer the relief sought. On appeal by the Utah State Tax Commission this court again unanimously held that the decision must be reversed since the taxpayer did not comply with the exclusive requirements of the use tax act. The court stated:

Whether Mr. Lambert's remedy under Chapter 16, U.C.A.1953, known as the Use Tax Act was exclusively to exhaust his administrative remedies and seek review of the Commission's decision in this court or whether the remedies provided under the provisions of Sec. 59-16-23 of that Act are available to him need not be determined in the instant case. Under all the provisions of the Use Tax Act before recourse can be had to either this court or the district court for relief from a use tax assessment there must either be deposited with the Commission the amount assessed or payment made under protest. Here it is clear this action was brought to avoid these conditions precedent to recourse to the courts. The court therefore erred in ordering the issuance of license plates and registration of the vehicle involved.

This court has held, therefore, that where the Legislature has established exclusive means of review of the

determinations and decisions made by the Utah State Tax Commission such means of review must be followed. The defendant would agree that arbitrary or capricious action by it may obviate the necessity of following these statutorily established means of review, but there has been no showing here of such arbitrariness or capriciousness. (R. 131-146)

It would appear, then, that under the statute and the decisions of this court, plaintiff is not entitled to prosecute this appeal until it has complied with the conditions precedent set forth in the statute. Because of the statute and past court decisions, the defendant feels compelled to ask the court to reconsider its determination in which it permitted this appeal or, at least, to advise it and the public generally in a written decision the basis on which it determined that a taxpayer can appeal a determination of the Utah State Tax Commission without complying with the conditions precedent of the statute.

POINT II

THE PLAINTIFF IS A RETAILER REQUIRED TO COLLECT AND PAY OVER TO THE STATE ALL STATE AND LOCAL TAXES IMPOSED BY LAW UPON RETAIL SALES.

Repl. Vol. Utah Code Ann. § 59-15-5 (1963) requires the collection of a sales tax by the vendor on every retail sale, and Repl. Vol. Utah Code Ann. § 59-15-4 (1963) establishes the rate of the tax imposed. Contrary to the

contention of the plaintiff that the operators of the ice cream vehicles were independent contractors, the defendant determined that said individuals were either agents or employees of the plaintiff; that the retail sales were made by the plaintiff; and, that the plaintiff was required to collect and pay over the applicable tax.

This court in several cases has been required to determine the nature of the relationship between individuals; i.e., principal-agent, employer-employee, master-servant, or independent contractor. Though none of these cases seem to have been concerned with an individual's liability for sales tax, these cases, nevertheless, seem to be so similar as to be controlling in this issue.

In *Christean v. Industrial Commission*, 113 Utah 451, 196 P. 2d 502 (1948), the court reviewed the case authorities and considered, particularly, the tests which have been set forth in the *Restatement, Agency*, sec. 220, which provides:

(1) A servant is a person employed to perform service for another in his affairs and who, with respect to the physical conduct in the performance of the service, is subject to the other's control or right to control.

(2) In determining whether one acting for another is a servant or an independent contractor, the following matters of fact, among others, are considered:

a. The extent of control which, by the agreement, the master may exercise over the details of the work;

b. whether or not the employee is engaged in a distinct occupation or business;

c. the kind of occupation, with reference to whether in the locality, the work is usually done under the direction of the employer or by a specialist without supervision;

d. the skill required in the particular occupation;

e. whether the employer or the workman supplies the instrumentalities, tools, and the place of work for the person doing the work;

f. the length of time for which the person is employed;

g. the method of payment, whether by the time or by the job;

h. whether or not the work is a part of the regular business of the employer;

i. whether or not the parties believe they are creating the relationship of master and servant; and

j. whether the principal is or is not engaged in business.

Under the *Restatement* and the Utah case law, the important criterion for determining whether there is a relationship of master and servant is whether there is a right to control the manner in which the work is accomplished, whether or not such control is exercised. *Thiokol Chemical Corp. v. Peterson*, 15 Utah 2d 355, 393 P. 2d 391 (1964); *Nicholson v. Industrial Commission*, 14 Utah 2d 3, 376 P. 2d 386 (1962); *Stover Bedding Co. v.*

Industrial Commission, 99 Utah 423, 107 P. 2d 1027 (1940).

In the instant case it would appear that the taxpayer had the right to control the activities of the drivers and that he did exercise such rights. The plaintiff was responsible for the care and maintenance of the motor vehicles; the plaintiff established areas in which the drivers were to operate; the plaintiff regulated the hours during which they were to work and could determine which of the drivers would work on any particular occasion; the plaintiff furnished the goods to be sold and restricted the drivers to the sale of his products only, set the price of these products and determined the commission to be paid each of the drivers. The employment was terminable at will by the plaintiff and the plaintiff, in reality, did not sell merchandise to the drivers each day but provided them with the merchandise and paid them a portion of the gross receipts on the Tuesday following the end of the weekly period.

These factors strongly indicate that the drivers were not independent contractors but were employees of the plaintiff.

It is noted that the agreement is entitled as one for the lease of the motor vehicle and it is specifically provided that the drivers are independent contractors. While effect is normally given to the designation of the contracting parties, a legal relationship of independent contractor does not arise simply by calling it such and if

the factors indicate that another relationship exists, the agreement will be treated as such.

Where parties in good faith contract as to a status and the understanding arrived at is not contrary to the law as it is then announced, the intent of the parties as set forth in such a contract can be considered as an element in determining the relationship of the parties and can be given weight by the Commission and this court. Such a provision in a contract has the effect of negating an intent on the part of the master to retain control and an intent on the part of the agent to yield control. *However, the weight to be given this factor may be inconsequential if the other terms of the contract are such that by peering through the mask of contract phraseology it can be reasonably determined the contract was merely a guise to conceal the true relationship. Christean v. Industrial Commission, supra.*

We must look to the substance rather than the form of a transaction, and the categorization given to a relationship by the interested parties is not conclusive of the nature of the relationship. There, an agreement between the taxicab company and the drivers specifically provided that no employer-employee relationship existed between the parties. In holding that the cab company was liable for contributions under the Unemployment Compensation Act, we stated that despite the negation of an employer-employee relationship in the agreement there was sufficient exercise of control over the drivers to justify a finding of employment status under the Employment Compensation Act. True, "employment" was specifically defined in that act, but the ultimate determination came from the totality of the cir-

cumstances surrounding the transactions. *Abt v. Dept. of Revenue*, 34 Ill. 2d 324, 215 N. E. 2d 243 (1966).

See also *Cassidy v. Peters*, 50 Wash. 2d 115, 309 P. 2d 767 (1957). There have been several recent cases similar to the instant case in which ice cream was vended by means of motorized drivers. In *Abt v. Dept. of Revenue*, *supra*, the court pointed particularly to the facts that the taxpayer owned the vehicles used, that he supplied the gas and obtained the licenses and registration for the vehicles, that the vehicles were stored at his place of business, that the drivers were paid a commission on the amount sold and that he assigned the drivers to designated territories. The court held that this constituted a relationship of employer-employee and that the taxpayer rather than the drivers was subject to the Illinois sales tax.

In *Ogozalek v. Administrator, Unemployment Compensation Act*, 28 Conn. Sup. 100, 163 Atl. 2d 114 (1960), the court again held that the drivers of ice cream vending trucks were employees. There the employer owned five trucks with his name printed on each, and the price of the ice cream was listed on each of the trucks. The employer repaired, serviced and maintained the trucks, obtained insurance and licenses for them, and paid for all gas and oil used. The drivers were furnished with a uniform and furnished with cash each day for the purpose of making change. The employer assigned each of the drivers to a specific territory and paid them their portion of the proceeds at the end of each week. These factors

were held to evidence sufficient control to create a relationship of employer-employee.

Also, in *Cassidy v. Peters*, supra, the ice cream vendors were considered to be employees. The operative facts were similar to those in the above cited cases and in the instant case.

POINT III

NEITHER THE UTAH STATE SALES TAX ACT NOR THE REGULATORY PROVISIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER PROHIBIT COLLECTION BY THE PLAINTIFF ON THE APPLICABLE STATE AND LOCAL SALES TAX.

In order to facilitate the collection of state and local sales tax by vendors, the Utah State Tax Commission enacted regulation S6 which established a bracket system of collection. In other words, sales between certain amounts were deemed to require a tax of a certain amount, and the scale was graduated as to the amount of sales. This bracket system imposed no tax on sales which were between the amounts of zero to fourteen cents. Apparently, the taxpayer is contending that since its sales were less than fifteen cents in each instance it was not required to collect the sales tax because of this bracket system. The defendant feels that this contention has been adequately resolved in a decision of this court, *Hinckley, Inc. v. State Tax Comm'n*, 17 Utah 2d 70, 404 P. 2d 622 (1965). This court there considered several aspects of

the sales tax provisions, its imposition, and duty of collection. With respect to the duty of the vendor to collect the tax, the court stated:

. . . The legislature by eliminating the provision that the vendor had the option of collecting from the vendee or absorbing the tax himself, if he saw fit, did not change the nature of the tax, which is still one imposed on the transaction. It is still mandatory for the vendor to assume the responsibility for the collection, accounting and remitting of the amounts due the State on the transactions.

As to the nature of the tax, the court made relation to its decision in *W. F. Jensen Candy Co. v. State Tax Comm'n*, 90 Utah 359, 61 P. 2d 629, 107 A.L.R. 261 (1936):

. . . this court pointed out that the tax imposed is a tax on a transaction, and unless there is an exemption there is still due the State the rate imposed on such transaction whether it be a cent or one-fifth of a cent. The fact that in sales of less than 50 cents the collection of the tax may be difficult does not change the responsibility of the vendor for the collection and accounting to the State for the tax imposed.

Then, the court further stated:

The tax imposed is upon the transaction, and its payment to the State is not dependent upon how it is collected. The rate is constant and applies alike to every seller. The seller is required to remit the amount due on total sales. If he chooses to sell items which are priced at a point on the schedule where less than the full tax can be collected, he

cannot complain that the schedule is discriminatory as to him because no provision has been made by the Tax Commission whereby the correct amount due from the purchaser under his method of doing business can be collected. The schedule applies alike to every seller and aids those whose method of doing business makes its application practical by facilitating the collection of the correct amount required by the seller to be remitted to the State on its local sales.

As to the fact that the sales made by Hinckley were generally less than the minimum amount set forth in the bracket system, the court made this observation:

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